71004-4

No. 71004-4-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### CHRISTOPHER DABALOS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Appellant

----

:0

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

.

1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Christopher Dabalos knowingly possessed a firearm, an essential element of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree.

2. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Dabalos's motion in arrest of judgment.

 Defense counsel did not investigate exculpatory witnesses, thus violating Mr. Dabalos's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel

4. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Dabalos's motion for a new trial based upon ineffective assistance of counsel.

Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument violated Mr.
 Dabalos's constitutional right to a fair trial.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S.
 Const. amend. VI, XIV. Mr. Dabalos was convicted of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree based upon evidence that items belonging to him were in the same room as a rifle that was inside a closed wooden chest. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the

State, must Mr. Dabalos's conviction be reversed and dismissed in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt that he knowingly owned, possessed or controlled the rifle? (Assignments of Error 1, 2)

2. The accused's Sixth Amendment right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. Defense counsel is required to investigate the facts of the case. Mr. Dabalos's trial attorney placed only two telephone calls in an effort to locate two witnesses he mentioned to her. The attorney never talked to the witnesses, but nevertheless decided their testimony would not be helpful. One of the witnesses, however, would have testified that another person hid the firearm a chest in Mr. Dabalos's room when Mr. Dabalos was not present. In addition, both witnesses lived with Mr. Dabalos in the house where the rifle was found and would have testified they never saw him with the rifle. Must Mr. Dabalos's conviction be reversed and remanded for a new trial because his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel was violated? (Assignments of Error 3, 4).

3. The accused has the constitutional right to a fair trial, and a prosecutor's improper arguments may violate that right. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by twice misstating the elements of the crime as set forth in the jury instructions in a manner that reduced the

State's burden of proof. Must Mr. Dabalos's conviction be reversed where the prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it could not have been cured by timely objections and curative instructions? (Assignment of Error 5).

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

.

Auburn Police personnel executed a search warrant at a threebedroom house located at 14114 S.E. 192<sup>nd</sup> Street in Renton in March 2011. 5/13/14 RP 118-19, 121-22. Christopher Dabalos was one of four people inside the residence at the time. 5/13/14 RP 122-23.

Mr. Dabalos was arrested and questioned by Detectives Michael Houser and Jonathan Peterson. 5/13/14 RP 18-20, 49, 50-51. Mr. Dabalos told the detectives that he lived in the house. 5/13/14 RP 25. When asked about a rifle found in a bedroom in the house, Mr. Dabalos said Dennis Bertram had brought the gun to his home and tried to sell it to him, but Mr. Dabalos told Mr. Bertram to take the gun away. Post-Trial Ex. 1; 5/13/14 RP 30-31.

The King County Prosecutor charged Mr. Dabalos with unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. RCW 9.41.010. CP 1-2. At a jury trial before the Honorable Jay V. White, Detective Houser testified that he seized a rifle and two unloaded magazines he

found inside a unlocked wooden chest in a bedroom in the Renton house. 5/13/14 RP 125, 136-38, 150.

.

The detective found documents belonging to Mr. Dabalos and Sonya Gleason in the bedroom and in the chest. 5/13/14 RP 146-47. The detective found Mr. Dabalos's 2009 temporary driver's license and an undated bill in the chest underneath the rifle. 5/13/14 RP 144, 151-52. Both listed an address in Moses Lake. 5/13/14 RP 151-52; Ex. 10. Mr. Dabalos's driver's license was under the bed and his wallet was on the floor, also with a Moses Lake address. 5/13/14 RP 127, 131; Ex. 3. His Department of Corrections identification card, which does not include an address, was on top of the chest. 5/13/14 RP 133-35; Ex. 6.

Mr. Dabalos stipulated that he had previously convicted of a serious offense as defined by RCW 9.41.010. 4/13/14 RP 182. The rifle was an AK-47 that the police determined was operable. 5/13/14 RP 137, 178-79 No fingerprint of comparison value were found on the rifle. 5/13/14 RP 167-69, 170.

The State did not introduce any of Mr. Dabalos's statements to the police officers, and Mr. Dabalos did not testify or present any witnesses. He was convicted as charged. CP 54.

Mr. Dabalos obtained new counsel and moved for a new trial on the grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney did not contact two witnesses who could have provided exculpatory evidence. CP 93-95, 98-100, 103-22; 9/13/13 RP 34-37. He also moved for arrest of judgment in light of the absence of evidence to prove possession beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 95-98, 106-07;

9/13/14 RP 31-33. The court denied both motions. 9/16/13 RP 95-110.

The court sentenced Mr. Dabalos to an 87-month standard-range prison term. CP 72, 74. He appeals. CP 79-90.

- D. ARGUMENT
  - 1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Dabalos committed the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree.
    - a. <u>The State must prove every element of the charged</u> <u>crime beyond a reasonable doubt</u>.

The Due Process Clause protects the accused from conviction unless the State proves every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV. On appellate review, the court determines whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Jackson v.</u> Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 334, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979);

State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Mr. Dabalos was convicted of unlawful possession of a firearm

in the first degree, RCW 9.41.040. CP 1-2; 54. The statute reads:

A person, whether an adult or juvenile, is guilty of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, if the person, owns, has in his possession, or has in his or her control any firearm after having previously been convicted or found not guilty by reason of insanity in this state or elsewhere of any serious offense as defined in this chapter.

RCW 46.41.040(1). The State must establish that the defendant

knowingly owned, possessed, or controlled the firearm. State v.

Anderson, 141 Wn.2d 357, 366-67, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000) (addressing

second degree possession of a firearm); CP 46, 50. Mr. Dabalos's

conviction must be reversed because the State did not prove beyond a

reasonable doubt that he knowingly owned, possessed, or controlled the

rifle.

•

#### b. <u>The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt</u> <u>that Mr. Dabalos knowingly owned, possessed, or</u> controlled the rifle found in the Renton house.

An essential element of first degree possession of a firearm is knowing possession, control, or ownership of a firearm. RCW 46.61.040(1); CP 50. The State offered no proof that Mr. Dabalos owned the firearm or that he had actual possession or control of it. Instead, the State conviction was based upon constructive possession. 5/14/13 RP 10-11, 16.

.

Possession may be actual or constructive. <u>State v. Chouinard</u>, 169 Wn App. 895, 889, 282 P.3d 117 (2012), <u>rev. denied</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1003 (2013). Constructive possession may be established by proving dominion and control over the firearm. <u>Id</u>. Dominion and control means that the object may be reduced to actual possession immediately. <u>State v. Jones</u>, 146 Wn.2d 328, 333, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002). Proximity to a weapon alone is not sufficient to establish constructive possession. Id.

In this case, the State proved that Mr. Dabalos was in the home when the search warrant was executed and that his wallet, driver's license, temporary driver's license, DOC identification, and a bill were in the bedroom where the gun was found. At most, the State proved that Mr. Dabalos may have lived in the bedroom along with Ms. Gleason.

Constructive possession requires proof that the defendant had control over the firearm itself, not just the place where it was located. <u>State v. Shumaker</u>, 142 Wn. App. 330, 334, 174 P.3d 1214 (2007);

State v. Cantabrana, 83 Wn. App. 204, 207-08, 921 P.2d 572 (1996). Dominion and control over the premises where the rifle was found was but one factor to be considered by the jury in determining if Mr. Dabalos knowingly possessed it.

In Echeverria, the Court of Appeals affirmed a conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm when a juvenile was found driving a car with a firearm sticking out from underneath the driver's seat. <u>State</u> <u>v. Echeverria</u>, 85 Wn. App. 777, 779-80, 783, 934 P.2d 1214 (1997). In that circumstance, the juvenile court made a reasonable inference that the defendant knowingly possessed or controlled the gun that was within his reach. <u>Id</u>. at 783. In contrast, the Court of Appeals overturned the juvenile's conviction for possession of throwing stars that were in the car but not visible. <u>Id</u>. at 783-84.

The gun in this case was not visible. It was found in a rifle case inside a wooden chest or trunk. 5/13/14 RP 136-37. The trunk was covered with items, including a globe, so that it could not be easily opened. Ex 4. And, while Mr. Dabalos's temporary driver's license was found in the chest, it was underneath the rifle case and thus would have been placed there before the rifle. 5/13/14 RP 133-45. Thus, the

State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Dabalos knew the weapon was there.

c. Mr. Dabalos's conviction must be reversed.

The defendant may not be convicted unless the evidence supports every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The State did not prove that Mr. Dabalos knew there was a rifle in the trunk or that he had constructive possession of the rifle. Mr. Dabalos's conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm must be reversed and must be dismissed. <u>See Chouinard</u>, 169 Wn. App. at 903; <u>Echeverria</u>, 85 Wn. App. at 785.

# 2. Mr. Dabalos's conviction must be reversed because he did not receive the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the state and federal constitutions.

a. <u>Mr. Dabalos has the constitutional right to effective</u> assistance of counsel.

The federal and state constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to counsel.<sup>1</sup> U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); <u>State v Heddrick</u>, 166 Wn.2d 898, 909-10, 215

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The right to counsel found in the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment applies to the States. <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963).

P.3d 201 (2009). Defense counsel's critical role in the adversarial system protects the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial.
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 84-85, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.
Ed. 2d 674 (1984); <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 656, 104 S.
Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). "The very premise of our adversary system of criminal justice is that partisan advocacy on both sides of a case will best promote the ultimate objective that the guilty be convicted and the innocent go free." <u>Cronic</u>, 488 U.S. at 655 (quoting <u>Herring v. New York</u>, 422 U.S. 853, 862, 95 S. Ct. 2550, 45 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1975)).

The right to counsel therefore necessarily includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686; <u>State v.</u> <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d 91, 96-98, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). The right to effective counsel is not fulfilled simply because an attorney is present in court; the attorney must actually assist the client and play a role in ensuring the proceedings are adversarial and fair. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 685; <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 98.

When reviewing a claim that trial counsel was not effective, appellate courts utilize the two-part test announced in <u>Strickland</u>. <u>State</u> <u>v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Under

<u>Strickland</u>, the appellate court must determine (1) was the attorney's performance below objective standards of reasonable representation, and, if so, (2) was the defendant prejudiced by counsel's errors. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 688, 694; <u>Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact reviewed de novo. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 698; <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 109.

#### b. <u>Mr. Dabalos's attorney did not contact two potential</u> <u>witnesses who would have provided exculpatory</u> <u>testimony</u>.

Mr. Dabalos's trial attorney Jennifer Cruz did not call any witnesses at trial. Her defense was that the State did not prove Mr. Dabalos knowingly possessed the rifle. <u>See</u> 5/14/13 RP 32-35.

In her declaration, Ms. Cruz stated that Mr. Dabalos told her that he did not know the gun was in his bedroom. CP 67. He was working as a welder and was not home very much. CP 67. Ms. Cruz and Mr. Dabalos also reviewed his written statement to the police, in which he explained that Mr. Bertram had brought the rifle to his home and Mr. Dabalos told him to get the gun out of the house. CP 67; Post-Trial Ex. 1. Ms. Cruz was aware that Michael Monroe, Paula Hopper, and Ms. Gleason were in the house with Mr. Dabalos when the house was searched. <u>See CP 68</u>; 5/13/13 RP 14. Mr. Dabalos informed his lawyer that Mr. Monroe and Ms. Hopper would corroborate his statement about telling Mr. Bertram to get the gun out of the house. CP 68. Mr. Dabalos asked Ms. Cruz to contact Michael Monroe, but he thought Ms. Hopper might have a criminal history and did not suggest Ms. Cruz contact her. CP 68.

Ms. Cruz tried to contact Mr. Monroe only two times, and did not reach him. CP 68-69. She did reach a woman who she suspected was Paula Hopper, but did not try to contact Ms. Hopper on the telephone number Mr. Dabalos gave her for Ms. Hopper. CP 69. Ms. Cruz decided not to investigate further because Ms. Hopper would "place the gun and Mr. Dabalos in the bedroom of the house." CP 70.

After he was convicted, Mr. Dabalos retained Eric Lindell. Mr. Lindell was able to reach both Mr. Monroe and Ms. Hopper and provide the court with their declarations. CP 117-22. Mr. Monroe would have testified that Mr. Bertram came to the house and went to Mr. Dabalos's room. He heard Mr. Dabalos say that he did not "mess with guns" and ordered Mr. Bertram to get it out of there. Mr. Dabalos then left. CP 119, 121.

More importantly, Mr. Monroe would also have testified that after Mr. Dabalos left the house, he saw Mr. Bertram put the gun in the chest in Mr. Dabalos's bedroom. CP 119, 121. In addition, both Mr. Monroe and Ms. Hopper would have testified that they lived in the house with Mr. Dabalos and never saw him with the rifle or heard him talk about the rifle. CP 117, 120, 121.

The trial court denied Mr. Dabalos's motion for a new trial. The judge reasoned that Ms. Cruz's trial strategy was to argue that Mr. Dabalos had no knowledge of the firearm. 9/13/13 RP 82. Ms. Hopper and Mr. Monroe placed Mr. Dabalos in the house when Mr. Bertram brought the gun. 9/16/13 RP 103, 109. The court therefore concluded that, based upon what Mr. Dabalos told her about their possible testimony, Ms. Cruz was not obligated to contact the potential witnesses. 9/13/13 RP 82.

The court also opined that much of the information in Ms. Hopper and Mr. Monroe's declarations was inadmissible and was concerned about perceived inconsistencies in Mr. Monroe's two

declarations. 9/16/13 RP 93, 103-07. The court added that Ms. Cruz tried to contact them but was unable to reach them. 9/13/13 RP 82.

The court therefore concluded that Ms. Cruz's performance was not below that of a reasonable attorney and that Mr. Dabalos could not demonstrate that the outcome of the case might be different with the witnesses based upon the State's "strong evidence" of possession. 9/16/13 RP 110. The court did not enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law.

# c. <u>Mr. Dabalos's attorney's failure to investigate was</u> deficient performance.

The American Bar Association Standards require defense

counsel to investigate and explore all information relevant to the case:

Defense counsel should conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to the merits of the case and the penalty in event of conviction. . . . The duty to investigate exits regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to defense counsel of facts constituting guilt or the accused's stated desire to plead guilty.

American Bar Association Criminal Justice Section, Standards for

Criminal Justice - Prosecution Function and Defense Function, Std. 4-

4.1(a) (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 1993).<sup>2</sup> The Washington Supreme Court has also held that defense counsel duty to investigate and evaluate evidence in the context of helping the client make an educated decision as to whether to plead guilty) <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 111-12. The <u>Strickland</u> Court also established that defense counsel "has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 691.

Ms. Cruz's duty to investigate Mr. Dabalos's case included contacting the two witnesses he identified as having possible exculpatory information. <u>See State v. Maurice</u>, 79 Wn. App. 544, 552, 903 P.2d 514 (1995) (counsel deficient for failing to have vehicle examined based upon recommendation by State's accident reconstruction expert, supporting client's theory that accident caused by mechanical problem with vehicle); <u>State v. Jury</u>, 19 Wn. App. 256, 266, 576 P.2d 1302 (counsel deficient for not interviewing or subpoenaing witnesses identified by client to support mental health defense), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 90 Wn.2d 1006 (1978); <u>Vega v. Ryan</u>, \_\_\_\_\_F.3d \_\_\_\_, 2014 WL 2019294 at \*5-7 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir., No. 12-15631, 5/19/14) (defense counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Available at <u>www.abanet.org/crimjust/standards</u>. Bar association and other standards are relevant in considering ineffective assistance of counsel claims. <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 110.

ineffective for not reviewing client's file that revealed complaining witness's recantation of testimony).

.

The trial court ruled that Ms. Cruz's performance was reasonable because, based upon what Mr. Dabalos told her, the two potential witnesses would not have helped his defense that he did not know the weapon was in his home. The court thus used the wrong legal standard. A strategic choice cannot reasonably be made in the absence of a thorough investigation. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 ("[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.") (emphasis added); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U. S. 510, 521-22, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 156 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2003) (accord); Correll v. Ryan, 539 F.3d 938, 951 (9th Cir. 2008) (counsel's failure to investigate mitigation in death penalty case could not be excused as strategic because he failed "to conduct an investigation sufficient to make an informed judgment."). Moreover, counsel's duty to investigate extends beyond investigating the information her client has provided her. See Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 387-89, 125 S.

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