71004-4

= :

NO. 71004-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

CHRISTOPHER DABALOS,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JAY V. WHITE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE D. KNIGHTLINGER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Here, the State presented sufficient evidence to convict Dabalos of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. The AK-47 was found in the trunk in his bedroom. 2RP 137. Dabalos' presence in the home at 6:00 a.m. along with the fact that in the master bedroom police found his wallet, three additional items of identification, and a bill identifying him by name raised the reasonable inference that he had dominion and control over the master bedroom. 2RP 121, 126-27, 131-33, 144-45.

Beyond dominion and control of the premises, the evidence showed Dabalos had constructive possession of the AK-47 itself. Dabalos could easily have actually possessed the firearm by simply opening the unlocked trunk. 2RP 150. Plus, Dabalos' Department of Corrections identification card was found on top of the trunk. 2RP 133. Inside the trunk and immediately below the AK-47 were Dabalos' temporary identification card and a bill addressed to him. 2RP 144-45. The location of these items further supported that Dabalos possessed the AK-47. Because possession need not be exclusive, the fact that Gleason's possessions were also found in the bedroom does not change this conclusion.

Moreover, the items on top of the trunk meant that it would have been more difficult for someone who did not live in the bedroom to conceal the AK-47 inside it. The large globe, various drink containers, and other possessions would have had to have been cleared off and then replaced without the person being

٠

- 8 -

discovered. <u>See</u> Ex. 4. It would be far easier to simply shove it in a closet or under the bed. But, for one who lived in the bedroom, the trunk provided easy access to the AK-47 while the possessions on top discouraged others from discovering it.

Dabalos relies on <u>Echeverria</u>. This case is distinguishable. In <u>Echeverria</u>, the driver of a car was convicted of unlawful possession of a firearm and of furtively carrying a martial arts throwing star. 85 Wn. App. at 779. Officers stopped Echeverria as he exited the driver's side of a car that he did not own. <u>Id.</u> at 780. The officer saw that three inches of the barrel of a gun was sticking out from under the driver's seat. <u>Id.</u> When the officer removed the gun, she found the throwing star next to it. <u>Id.</u> The unlawful possession of a firearm conviction was affirmed because the gun was in plain sight at the defendant's feet. <u>Id.</u> at 783. However, the throwing star conviction was reversed because the throwing star was not visible to the driver and the State did not prove all the elements of the crime. <u>Id.</u> at 784.

By contrast, here, the evidence showed that Dabalos had dominion and control over the master bedroom and the AK-47. He was not simply momentarily sleeping in the bedroom, for his identification, wallet, and other items were all over the bedroom and

- 9 -

1410-27 Dabalos COA

in and on top of the trunk. 2RP 127, 131-47. It did not matter that the AK-47 was not visible. Therefore, the State presented sufficient evidence that Dabalos unlawfully possessed the AK-47.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DABALOS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE TRIAL COUNSEL EFFECTIVELY REPRESENTED DABALOS.

Dabalos contends that his counsel was ineffective for not interviewing two potential witnesses. This claim also fails. The trial court properly found that trial counsel was effective and that Dabalos was not prejudiced by the strategic decision not to have these witnesses testify at trial.

a. Relevant Facts.

Early on in Dabalos' case, trial counsel Jennifer Cruz discussed with him potential witnesses. CP 68. Dabalos told Cruz that Paula Hopper and Michael Monroe were present when he was arrested. CP 68. He told Cruz to contact Monroe, but not Hopper because Hopper had criminal history. CP 68. Dabalos was correct; Hopper has felony and misdemeanor convictions, including for second degree robbery. CP 60.

Cruz attempted to contact Monroe at the number Dabalos provided, but it was disconnected. CP 68. Regardless, she

discussed in detail with Dabalos the potential testimony of Monroe and Hopper. CP 68. Cruz understood that Monroe and Hopper would have stated that Dabalos was present at his home when Dennis Bartram brought over the AK-47, Bartram went into Dabalos' room, and then Dabalos told Bartram "to get the gun out of here." CP 68. Monroe's and Hopper's declarations filed in support of the motion for a new trial are consistent with the summary Cruz received from Dabalos. CP 119-22. They were also consistent with Dabalos' statement to police, which Cruz reviewed with Dabalos.² CP 68.

During trial, Dabalos gave Cruz new contact information for Monroe. Cruz again attempted to reach Monroe. CP 69. A woman, who she assumed was Hopper, answered the phone. CP 69. The woman was reluctant to take a message and said it was unclear when she would see him. CP 69. She also said it was "laughable" that Dabalos was trying to get Monroe to testify about the gun as "everyone knew" that Dabalos had the gun. CP 69.

² Dabalos told Detective Hauser that he lived in the house with his girlfriend and two others. 1RP 25; Post-trial Ex. 1. He said that Dennis Bartram had brought the gun to the house and into his bedroom. 1RP 30-31; Post-trial Ex. 1. Dabalos said he told Bartram, "get that thing out of here, because I do not mess with guns." Post-trial Ex. 1. He said that Bartram told him he wanted to sell the gun for \$400.00. 1RP 44. Dabalos said he did not know that Bartram placed the gun in the trunk in his room. Post-trial Ex. 1. The State did not introduce Dabalos' statement at trial. 1RP 27.

When Cruz relayed this to Dabalos, he provided a new number for Hopper. CP 69. Because the State was about to rest its case, Cruz felt it was too late to contact Hopper. CP 69.

In pretrial motions, Cruz successfully convinced the trial court to exclude all references to the drug activity, drug paraphernalia, surveillance equipment, and police scanner found at the house. 1RP 16-31, 103-06; CP 14-16. This ruling was subject to defense "opening the door" to the testimony. 1RP 21, 70; CP 16.

> b. Trial Counsel Effectively Represented Dabalos By Making The Strategic Decision Not To Have Two Witnesses Testify Who Would Have Undermined The Defense That Dabalos Had No Knowledge Of The AK-47 In His Room.

The appellate court reviews a trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Holm</u>, 91 Wn. App. 429, 435, 957 P.2d 1278 (1998). The trial courts factual findings are reviewed for substantial evidence and the legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. <u>Id.</u>

In order to prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him. <u>State v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32-33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (citing <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 108 S. Ct. 2052,

80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). The first prong of the test "requires a showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all of the circumstances." <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689).

The second prong of the test requires a showing that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant, in that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Id. If one prong has not been met, a reviewing court need not address the other prong. <u>State v. Garcia</u>, 57 Wn. App. 927, 932, 791 P.2d 244, <u>review denied</u>, 115 Wn.2d 1010 (1990).

In reviewing such claims, the appellate court engages in a strong presumption that trial counsel was effective. <u>State v.</u> <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Trial counsel's legitimate strategy or tactics cannot be the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance. <u>Id.</u> at 336. The entire record is reviewed. <u>Id.</u> at 335. "An attorney's action or inaction must be examined according to what was known and reasonable at the time the attorney made his choices." <u>In re Personal Restraint of Davis</u>, 152 Wn.2d 647, 722, 101 P.3d 1 (2004).

The decision of whether to call a witness is a matter of legitimate trial strategy that presumptively does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>State v. Davis</u>, 174 Wn. App. 623, 639, 300 P.3d 465 (2013). The presumption may be overcome if the defendant shows that counsel failed to adequately investigate or prepare for trial. <u>Id.</u> "The degree and extent of investigation required will vary depending upon the issues and facts of each case." <u>State v. A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d 91, 111, 225 P.3d 956 (2010).

"Counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations *or* to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 691 (emphasis added). Counsel may properly base her investigation on the informed, strategic choices of the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant:

[W]hen the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated altogether. And when a defendant has given counsel reason to believe that pursuing certain investigations would be fruitless or even harmful, counsel's failure to pursue those investigations may not later be challenged as unreasonable.

<u>ld.</u>

Here, trial counsel Cruz made the reasonable, strategic decision not to interview or call as witnesses Michael Monroe and Paula Hopper. First, Dabalos told Cruz not to contact Hopper. CP 68. To the extent Dabalos later changed his mind during trial, Cruz made the sound decision to maintain their chosen trial strategy. Thus, Dabalos' claim should be analyzed only as to Monroe.

Cruz was effective. After finding Monroe's number disconnected, she made the reasonable strategic decision to rely on Dabalos' representation of his expected testimony and decided not to call Monroe as a witness. She was not required to exhaustively pursue Monroe given what she already knew and their trial strategy.

Dabalos' defense at trial was that he had no knowledge of the AK-47 in his bedroom and that he did not have dominion and control over it. CP 68. The trial court excluded any reference to drug activity, drug paraphernalia, police scanners or surveillance equipment found at the home. 1RP 16-31, 103-06; CP 14-16. Yet, the evidence could be introduced if defense "opened the door." 1RP 21, 70; CP 16.

- 15 -

.

Monroe's testimony would have undermined the defense strategy. 4RP 83, 109-10. His testimony would have established that Dabalos lived in the master bedroom and that Dabalos was in the house with the AK-47. CP 119, 121. Monroe's second declaration goes even further by clarifying that Dabalos was in his bedroom with the AK-47 and Bartram. CP 121.

Monroe would not have been allowed to testify to the statements that he heard from Dabalos or Bartram, as these would have been inadmissible hearsay. <u>See</u> ER 801, 802; 4RP 71-72, 94; CP 119. He also would not have been able to testify to his opinion that Dabalos had no knowledge of the gun. <u>See</u> ER 701; 4RP 91, 105-06; CP 71-72, 121.

Dabalos agreed with this chosen strategy, as he decided not to testify. 3RP 2; CP 69. That decision was based on the fact that the State had not introduced Dabalos' statement to the police and that he risked potentially opening the door to the excluded evidence. 4RP 108; CP 69.

Monroe's testimony likely would have opened the door to the excluded evidence. 4RP 64-65. The police scanner and surveillance equipment were found in Monroe's room along with

.

evidence of check forging activity. The latter would have been admissible to impeach Monroe under ER 608.³

Cruz's strategy, however, allowed her to argue that the State had not proved Dabalos' residence in the house or his connection to the AK-47. 3RP 25-27, 31-32. She recounted that detectives had not collected all of the documents in the room, and argued that Dabalos' identification could have been there because he could have been a victim of identity theft. 3RP 27-29. Finally, she argued that there was no testimony that anyone had seen Dabalos with the AK-47. 3RP 33- 34.

If Monroe or Hopper had testified, this entire strategy would have been undermined. Their testimony would have shown that Dabalos had been seen with the AK-47 in his room, and, thereby, strengthened the State's case. 4RP 83; CP 117, 119, 121. That counsel's strategy was not ultimately successful does not have any bearing on its reasonableness.

Dabalos compares this case to <u>A.N.J.</u> This comparison fails. In <u>A.N.J.</u>, counsel misinformed the twelve-year old defendant of the consequences of his plea to first degree child molestation.

168 Wn.2d at 119-20. Among a number of deficiencies, counsel

٠

³ ER 608 allows cross-examination on specific instances of conduct of a witness if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness.

failed to conduct any meaningful investigation of the case. <u>Id.</u> at 109. Instead, he relied on the defendant's admission of guilt. <u>Id.</u> at 110.

By contrast, trial counsel Cruz was well-informed of the factual and legal issues, conducted an appropriate investigation, and pursued a sound trial strategy. Cruz insisted on interviewing the lead detective in-person prior to the start of trial, even though the detective lived out-of-state. 1RP 3-7. She also successfully excluded the potentially damaging evidence found at the house. 1RP 16-30; CP 15-16. Finally, she ably argued that the State had not proved Dabalos had constructive possession of the AK-47. 3RP 25-35.

As to <u>Strickland</u>'s prejudice prong, Dabalos fails to show that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's actions. Even if this Court were to find that Cruz should have made more efforts to contact Monroe or Hopper, neither's testimony would have strengthened the defense case. The case would have become a credibility call for the jury as to Monroe's testimony that Bartram had put the gun in the trunk without Dabalos' knowledge. CP 121. Monroe and Hopper would have been impeached with their criminal convictions

- 18 -

for crimes of dishonesty⁴, and the police surveillance and evidence of check forging activity found in their room.⁵ 1RP 16-31, 103-06; 4RP 64-65; CP 14-16, 61.

As such, there was not a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different had Monroe or Hopper testified. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial.

3. THE PROSECUTOR'S STATEMENTS IN CLOSING ARGUMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE MISCONDUCT NOR WERE THE STATEMENTS FLAGRANT OR ILL-INTENTIONED.

Dabalos next alleges that two of the prosecutor's statements

in closing argument misstated the elements of the crime and

reduced the State's burden of proof. This argument should be

rejected. The prosecutor's statements were not improper.

Moreover, Dabalos' trial counsel did not object. He cannot show

that the statements were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that any

prejudice could not have been cured by an instruction.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a

defendant bears the burden of establishing that the conduct was

⁴ Monroe had criminal convictions for crimes of dishonesty under ER 609. CP 61. He had convictions for second degree theft, possession of burglary tools, and two convictions for third degree theft. CP 61.

⁵ Hopper and Monroe were arrested in the room with the evidence of check forging activity, police scanner, and surveillance equipment. 4RP 64.

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